Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-26-2015

Gallegos v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42009

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the summary dismissal of a pro se successive petition for post-conviction, and Judgment. (R. pp.83-90.) The order of dismissal should be reversed because the petition raised a genuine issue of material fact - sp\u00e4ecificaly whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request an in camera proceeding regarding a potential trial witness who had information that proved Mr. Gallegos innocence at trial, and that Appellate Attorney's were constitutionally ineffective in representing him on the direct appeal of the judgment and sentence, all contrary to well established Federal Law and United States Supreme Court decisions.

B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

Appellant, Andy Gene Gallegos, was charged with two counts of sexual abuse of a minor under the age of sixteen years in Cassia County case CR-2007-3989. Mr. Gallegos was found guilty after trial, and he admitted to being a persistent violator. On April 1, 2008, the trial court sentenced Mr. Gallegos to a Unified term of imprisonment of thirty years with ten years determinate in Count I; and a unified term of imprisonment of twenty-five years with ten years determinate in Count II, with both Count I and II to run concurrently with each other.

On appeal, the only issue raised was whether the district court abused its discretion when it imposed upon Mr. Gallegos a unified sentence of thrity years, with ten years fixed, by failing to recognize that the court had the discretion to consider the polygraph results and in light of the fact that petitioner was deemed a low risk to re-offend. And, the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision. State v. Gallegos, No.613, Unpublished Opinion filed September 18, 2009.

Mr. Gallegos subsequently timely filed a pro se petition for post-conviction relief, Cassia County case CV-2010-757, which the district court summarily dismissed and issued a judgment on September 28, 2012. This was appealed to the Idaho Supreme Court Dkt. No. 40481-2012 and latter was dismissed based upon appointed appellate counsel's advise that Mr. Gallegos dismiss the matter and file a successive petition for post-conviction relief.

Mr. Gallegos then on December 20, 2013, filed a successive petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp. 3-7), and First Affidavit of Petitioner which set forth all of the three federal claims which he was presenting with exhibits (R., pp. 24-40.)

The state filed an Answer, and within it requested the district court to deny the claims presented therein and summarily dismiss the petition. (R., pp. 52.) Mr. Gallegos filed a timely objection to the Answer to Successive Petition for Post Conviction Relief in where he specifically pointed out that the state had failed to comply with the mandates of I.C. 19-4906(a) for they had failed to submit portions of the underlying criminal record in order to support their affirmative defenses, and it was improper to seek summarily dismissal with the Answer they filed for it was not requested in a properly supported Motion to Dismiss pursuant to I.C. 19-4906(c). (R., pp. 53-58.)

As a result, the district court issued a Notice of Intent to Dismiss Post-Conviction Application based solely upon Claim One contained within the petition regarding prior post-convciton counsel's ineffectiveness, and disregarded any of the other Claims contained in the Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R. pp. 71-75.)

Mr. Gallegos field a pro se timely Reply to the district court's Notice of Intent to Dismsis Post-Conviction Application. Of importance Gallegos pointed out to the district court that he was presenting federal claims which violated his Constitutional Rights based upon well decided U.S. Supreme Court decisions, and that the district court only addressed Claim One in its Notice and failed to recognize and address the other two (2) cognizable claims presented in his Petition and First Affidavit of Petitioner with Exhibits. (R., pp. 76-82.)

In response the district court issued its Order Dismissing Post-Conviction Application in where it first addressed Mr. Gallegos's Motion to Take Judicial Notice of Underlying Records that he had filed with the court when he submitted his Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (See R., pp. 11-13.) In addition Galleogs also had relied upon the underlying criminal records and previous post-conviction relief records in submitting his "Supporting Facts" to all three Claims he presented in this Post-Conviction Relief (R., pp. 26-40.)

Secondly, the district court held that Mr. Gallegos's successive petition was barred by Idaho Code 19-4908 and the Idaho Supreme Court's most recent ruling in <u>Murphy v. State</u>, No. 40483, 2014 WL 712695, at *6 (Idaho Feb. 25, 2014) (R., pp. 85-87).

This appeal timely followed. (R., pp.91-94.)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the district court err in summarily dismissing the successive petition post-conviction relief given that the pleadings and supporting materials established a genuine issues of material facts as to whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request an in camera proceeding with Dr. Pilling's

patient inquiring into her knowledge of anything related to Petitioner's case;

Petitioner's Appellate Attorney's were constitutionally ineffective in representing him in his appeal of the judgment and sentence; and, the district court abused its discretion contrary to this Court's holding in taking judicial notice of the underlying criminal records in the post-conviction relief proceedings?

ARGUMENT

- A. The Petition Raised Genuine Issues of Material Facts and Should Not Have Been Summarily Dismissed
 - 1. Standard of Review

As set out in <u>Nevarez v. State</u>, 145 Idaho 878, 880-81, 187 P.3d 1253, 1255-56 (Ct.App. 2008):

A post-conviction relief action is a civil proceeding in which the applicant bears the burden to prove the allegations upon which the request for relief is based. An order for summary disposition of a post-conviction relief action under I.C. 19-4906(c) is the procedural equivalent of summary judgment under Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56. Therefore, summary dismissal of a post-conviction application is appropriate only if there exists no genuine issue of material fact which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle him to the requested relief. If a genuine factual issue is presented an evidentiary hearing must be conducted. On review of a summary dismsial, we must examine the record to determine whether the trial court correctly found that there existed no genuine issue of material fact and that the State was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. We liberally construe the facts and reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party. However, we do not give evidentiary value to mere conclusory allegations that are unsupported by admissible evidence.

Id. citations omitted.

2. The District Court Erred in Concluding Counsel Was Not Ineffective in failing to request an in camera proceeding with Dr. Pilling's patient inquiring into her knowledge of anything related to Mr. Gallegos's case.

This claim presents an issue of "newly Discovered Evidence", and a claim

of ineffective assistance of Counsel during trial, on appeal, and in the first Post Conviction proceeding.

The Petitioner has filed a Second or successive Petition for Post Conviction Relief in the District Court.

The District Court, after several long Months of attempting to have the case dismissed, finally entered an Order dismissing the Petition, and the Petitioner filed a timely Notice of Appeal, whereas this Brief follows.

It is the position of the Petitioner/Appellant that the District Court erred when it dismissed the Successive Petition, without an evidentiary hearing, because the Petitioner did in fact raise a material issue of fact before the District Court, and this fact alone should have prevented the case from being dismissed.

The issue presented herein is whether or not the District Court erred when it refused to conclude that Trial Counsel was ineffective for not moving the Trial Court to hold an "In Camera" hearing with Dr. Phillings Patient.

The Petitioner submitted a sworn affidavit which did in fact disclose that the Patient of Dr. Pillings was in possession of information which would show that the victim of the alleged crime had in fact fabricated the entire crime so that the, "..Defendant would have to move from the home, and the Victim would not have to obey such harsh and severe rules at the home".

This goes to the truth of the State's case. It goes to the direct evidence that was used to convict the Petitioner. It goes to the fundamental fairness of the judicial process in the State of Idaho.

It would have been very easy for the Court to have found that this was a material issue of fact presented in the Petition and entered an Order for an evidentiary hearing.

More to the point, the District Court erred when it dismissed the Petition ${\tt APPELLANT'S}$ BRIEF - 5

because the only way the District Court, in the successive Petition for Post Conviction Relief can make the decision that Counsel was not ineffective during Trial when Counsel did not seek an "in camera hearing" was to actually hold such a hearing to determine as to the evidence that would have been presented to the Court in such a hearing. There is simply no other way for the Court to make a just and fair determination of those facts.

It is based upon this that the Petitioner asks this Court to find that the Court abused its' discretion when it dismissed the Petition for Post Conviction Relief, (Successive Petition), and when the Court ruled that Trial Counsel was not Ineffective in not Moving the Court for such an "in Camera Hearing".

The purpose of an "In Camera" hearing is to protect the identify of the person giving testimony during such a hearing. Such a hearing is to be conducted when and if there is an invocation of a clear privilege, such as the Attorney Client. Doctor patient, or husband wife, (Marital), and or the Clergy privilege.

In this case the District Court erred when it held that there was no need to find that Counsel was ineffective for not seeking such a hearing, because the Doctor involved, Dr. Pillings, had invoked the Patient Doctor privilege. This is a non-sensical argument. It is for the times when such a privilege is invoked that a Court should in fact hold such a hearing. To protect the identity of such persons.

When the District Court denied the Successive Petition for Post Conviction Relief, and based its' dismissal on the above facts, it denied to the Petitioner the ability to present a complete defense. It denied to the Petitioner his right to the effective assistance of counsel during Trial, and on direct appeal.

"The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the

right to present the Defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecutions to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecutions' witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of Due Process of Law under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution." Washington V. State of Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 18 L.Ed.2d 1029, 87 S.Ct. 1920, (1967); In Re Oliver, 333 U.S. 257, 68 S.Ct. 499, 92 L.Ed. 682, (1948).

In the case before this Court it is well settled that the Petitioner had a Constitutional right, under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution to present a defense to teh charges against himself. This would clearly include the right to call witnesses.

Because the information learned by the Petitioner was disclosed during the communication between Doctor and Patient, the Doctor at issue, (Not the Patient), moved to have the information not disclosed under the Idaho Rules of Evidence, Rule 503. This Motion was granted by the Court.

The error occurred when the District Court went one step more, and entered an Order which denied to the Petitioner the right to present a complete defense. This was done when the Court refused the request to have the witness give the sought after testimony to the Court, in a sealed, in camera hearing.

This violates the Due Process Clause of the United states Constitution, and has denied to the Petitioner his right to present his defense.

In the case of <u>Chambers V. Mississippi</u>, 410 U.S. 284, 35 L.Ed.2d 297, 93 S.Ct. 1038, (1973), the United States Supreme Court stated as follows:

".. The right of an accused in a criminal Trial to Due Process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the

State's accusations. The rights to confront and to cross-examine witnesses and to call witnesses in one's own behalf have long been recognized as essential to Due Process of Law".

It is based upon the fact that the Court refused to allow an in camera hearing to allow the testimony to be heard, (whether or not under seal), that the Petitioner has been denied his rights under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution to present a defense.

Furthermore, because the Court stated that counsel was not ineffective for not requesting the "in camera" hearing, when the Court itself does not know what would ahve been learned at such a hearing, that the Court also erred in dismissing the Petition for Post Conviction Relief. (Successive Petition).

The District Court maynot place an opinion into the record, and dismiss the Petition for Post Conviction Relief, stating that counsel was not ineffective for seeking such a hearing, when the Court simply does not know what the witness at the hearing would have testified to. In doing this action, the District Court has abused its' discretion. It has clearly placed itself into a position of defense counsel. The Court did not question defense Counsel as to why he did, or did not perform any individual action.

The District Court may not place into an opinion, and use that opinion to dismiss this case, as to whether or not appellate Counsel was ineffective for not litigating a claim of ineffective assistance of Counsel during Trail, on direct appeal, when the Court has no evidence of any type before it that shows why such a claim was not litigated.

This is nothing more or less than the Court "vouching" for the different attorneys in this case. The Court is simply stating that a criminal defendant in the State of Idaho does not EVER have the right to litigate claims of appellate

counsel being ineffective for not litigating claims of ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel during the direct appeal process.

What the Court is actually stating is that in Idaho, in the direct appeal process, the Office of the state Appellate Defender will not raise claims of Trial Counsel being Ineffective.

This means that these claims, (Of trial counsel being ineffective), MUST be raised in a Petition for Post Conviction Relief, where the District Court in this case has ruled, "...there is not right to the effective assistance of counsel in Post Conviction Petitions".

What this comes down to is this. In the State of Idaho, a criminal appeal is "Bi-furicated" into two parts. In one part are the claim that the Offie of the State Appellate Defender will raise. In the second part are the more serious claims of ineffective assistance of Counsel during Trail. These claims must be presented in the Post Conviction Process, where there is no right to counsel.

This means that the right to have the assistance of Counsel in the first direct appeal, in the criminal case, has been denied to the Petitioner. He has not been provided with the right to have the assistance of counsel during the Direct Appeal process to raise claims of ineffective assistance of Counsel during the Trial Court process.

This factual scenario has been presented to the United States District Court in several case, namely, CV-06-00240-LMB, in a pleading filed by the Idaho State Attorney General, on January 9th, 2014, whereas the State Attorney general's Office stated as follows:

"...ineffective assistance of counsel claims can be raised during Post Conviction proceedings, and in Idaho Post Conviction Petitioners have a Statutory right to the effective assistance of Counsel during Post Conviction Proceedings".

This is in direct contradiction as to what the District Court Ordered in this case, and it would seem that one of the two cases needs to be corrected.

Under the Idaho Code, Section 19-852, it is clear that there is a statutory right to the appointment of counsel during Post Conviction Proceedings.

Because the Court, in this case, ordered there was no such right, it is clear that there has been an abuse of discretion.

Because of the procedural format in the State of Idaho, (That the office of the State Appellate Defender will not raise claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel), during the direct appeal, criminal defendants are not being allowed to have the right to have the effective assistance of counsel during the entire direct appeal process.

During times when counsel should be assisting the Petitioner, such as during the entire direct appeal process, including claims of ineffective assistance of Trial counsel, the Petitioner was denied this right. This violates the holding Evitts V. Lucy, 469 U.S. 392, 83 L.Ed. 2d 821, 105 S.Ct. 830, (1985), where the United states Supreme Court clearly held that the right to the effective assistance of Counsel must be given to all individuals equally, the same as those who can afford to hire such an attorney to represent him during an appeal.

In short, Idaho is simply allowing defendants who can afford to hire counsel, the ability to have claims of ineffective assistance of Counsel during Trail, to be presented on direct appeal, but if you can not afford counsel, and have the Office of the State Appellate Defender appointed because of your poverty, then any claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during trial will not be brought forward on direct appeal. Instead, because of being poor, these claims will have to be brought before the Court without the assistance of counsel, and if you are incarcerated in the Idaho State department of Corrections, then without any APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 10

type of case authority, and without any ability to conduct either general or specific research into issues. (This is not allowed per the Policy of the Idaho State Department of Corrections).

This is the procedural nightmare that the Petitioner in this case has been up against. He has been denied his right to present a complete defense, because he is poor and could not afford to hire counsel for his Appeal. And, as a result of that poverty, he had to bring his issues of ineffective assistance of Trial Counsel, and ineffective assistance of Appellate Counsel, before the District Court by way of the Uniform Post Conviction Act where the District Court simply denied to the Petitioner any form of relief, and stated, "..you do not have the right to have the assistance of counsel to assist you in Post Conviction proceedings,...", so... it is this action that has denied to the Petitioner Due Process of Law under the Constitution of the United states, Amendment Six.

It violates the fundamental principles of Due Process of law for the State District Court to have ordered the case dismissed, and hold that there was no material issues of fact in dispute, when in fact had counsel been appointed to assist the Petitioner, counsel could have filed the proper argument as to the ineffective assistance of counsel claim that would ahve shown how, or during what procedure the testimony of Dr. Pilling could have been garnered and given to the Court.

But because there was no counsel given to the Petitioner, he has been denied the ability to effectively present, research, and argue the claims of the Successive Post Conviction Petition, and coupled with the fact that he was denied the ability to bring forward these claims during the direct appeal process, the Petitioner has been harmed. He has been denied the right to have a full and fair appellate process, with the assistance of counsel to help him.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 11

CONCLUSION

Therefore, appellant respectfully requests that this court [what court should do].

I am requesting that this Court find that the District Court erred when it dismissed the Petition for Post Conviction Relief; that I was entitled to ahve the assistance of Counsel during that process, and that I should have had the assistance of counsel to bring claims in the direct appeal process, as to any type of claim regarding the effectiveness of Trial Counsel.

Furthermore, it is a denial of Due Process of Law for the State of Idaho to have all claims of Trial COunsel's ineffectiveness be brought in a Post Conviction Petition, and then deny to the Petitioner the right to have Counsel to assist him in litigating these claims.

Based upon the facts of this case, it is clear that the Petitioner has been denied the right to present a defense under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and this case should be remanded.