UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-13-2015

Gallegos v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42009

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Andy Gene Gallegos appeals from the summary dismissal of his successive post-conviction petition.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

The state charged Gallegos with two counts of sexual abuse of minor under sixteen years of aged. (R., p. 83.) A jury found Gallegos guilty of both counts. (R., pp. 3, 83.) After trial, Gallegos admitted to being a persistent violator. (R., p. 83.) Gallegos was sentenced then he appealed. (Id.) In an unpublished decision the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment and sentence. (R., pp. 83-84); <u>see also</u> Idaho Court of Appeals 2009 Unpublished Opinion, No. 613, Docket. No. 35324.

Gallegos filed an application for post-conviction relief in Cassia County case CV-2010-757. (Id.) He asserted multiple claims of ineffective assistance of both trial and appellate counsel. (Id.) The district court granted the state's motion for summary dismissal. (Id.) Gallegos appealed. <u>See Gallegos v. Idaho</u>, Docket No. 40481. This appeal was dismissed and remittitur issued. <u>Id.</u>

On December 20, 2013 Gallegos filed a Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (R., pp. 3-7.) Gallegos alleged that he had a sufficient reason to file a successive petition because his first post-conviction counsel was ineffective. (R., p. 6.)

In his successive petition Gallegos alleged three claims, Claim 1 – Ineffective Assistance of Post-Conviction Relief Counsel (R., pp. 26-30); Claim 2

1

Ineffective Assistance of Trial Counsel (R., pp. 31-35); and Claim 3 –
Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Attorney (R., pp. 36-40.) The state filed an
Answer to Gallegos' successive petition. (R., pp. 48-52.)

Gallegos moved for appointment of counsel. (R., pp. 14-18.) The district court denied Gallegos' motion for appointment of counsel. (R., pp. 41-47.) The

district determined that Gallegos did "not raise the possibility of valid claims for

post-conviction relief." (R., pp. 43-44.) The district court explained:

Mr. Gallegos contends that his trial attorney, David Haley (hereafter "Mr. Haley"), provided ineffective assistance of counsel by "failing to ask the trial court to conduct an in camera proceeding with Dr. Brek Pilling's patient inquiring into her knowledge of anything related to [Mr. Gallegos's] case." (Gallegos Aff. Attach. A at 6.) Similarly, Mr. Gallegos contends that his attorneys on the direct appeal provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to argue (1) "that the district court had abused its discretion in not conducting a [sic] in camera proceeding with Dr. Pilling's patient"; and (2) that Mr. Gallegos had received ineffective assistance of trial counsel based upon Mr. Haley's failure to request that the trial court conduct an in camera proceeding as set forth above. (Gallegos Aff. Attach. A at 11-12.)

In the underlying criminal case, the court granted Dr. Pilling's motion for a protective order based upon his invocation of the psychotherapist-patient privilege. See I.R.E. 503. There is nothing in Idaho Rule of Evidence 503, case law, statutes, or other rules that authorizes or requires a court to conduct an in camera proceeding in the manner that Mr. Gallegos suggests where the psychotherapist-patient privilege has been invoked. Where no such procedure exists under Idaho law, there is no legal basis for arguing or concluding that Mr. Haley's failure to request such a procedure is ineffective assistance of counsel. There is no legal basis for arguing or concluding that Mr. Gallegos's appellate attorneys provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to raise the issues on appeal that are set forth above.

(R., p. 44.) The district court also held that Gallegos' claim regarding his postconviction counsel was not valid. (R., pp. 45-46.) Gallegos' filed a Motion to Reconsider Appointment of Counsel. (R., pp. 60-66.) The district court denied the motion to reconsider, because Gallegos failed to present any new evidence, legal authority or argument. (R., p. 67-70.)

The district court issued a Notice of Intent to Dismiss Post-Conviction Application. (R., pp. 71-75.) The court gave notice that Gallegos' successive petition would be dismissed because he failed to articulate a sufficient reason to file a successive petition. (R., pp. 72-73.)

The only cited basis for allowing the Successive Petition in this case is the ineffective assistance of prior post-conviction counsel. Because this is not a "sufficient reason" for filing a successive petition, Mr. Gallegos's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in the Successive Petition are barred by Idaho Code § 19-4908.

(R., p. 74.) The district court explained that, "[T]he Idaho Supreme Court recently held that because a post-conviction petitioner 'has no statutory or constitutional right to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel, [he or] she cannot demonstrate 'sufficient reason' for filing a successive petition based on ineffectiveness of post-conviction counsel.'" (R., p. 73 (citing <u>Murphy v. State</u>, 156 Idaho 389, 395, 327 P.3d 365, 372 (2014).)

Gallegos filed a reply. (R., pp. 76-82.) In the reply, Gallegos argued that <u>Murphy</u> violated federal law and was not yet a final decision. (Id.) Gallegos also repeated his request that he be appointed counsel. (R., pp. 76-82.) The district court rejected Gallegos' arguments and entered an order dismissing his successive petition. (R., pp. 83-88.) The district court stated:

In the Reply, Mr. Gallegos contends that the holding in *Murphy* "is contrary to clearly established Federal law as determined by the U.S. Supreme Court and the Ninth Circuit." (Reply 3.) However, the law cited by Mr. Gallegos merely provides that "a state [post-

conviction relief] counsel's ineffective assistance in failing to raise trial-counsel [ineffective assistance of counsel] claims can excuse a procedural default" for the purposes of federal habeas review. *Detrich v. Ryan,* 740 F.3d 1237, 1240 (9th Cir. 2013) (citing *Martinez v. Ryan,* _____U.S.___, 132 S.Ct. 1309 (2012)). It does not establish that a petitioner has a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel in a state postconviction case. It has no bearing on the application of Idaho Code § 19-4908 to this case, nor is it contrary to the Idaho Supreme Court's holding in *Murphy*.

Mr. Gallegos also appears to request that this court not dismiss his Successive Petition based upon *Murphy* until the Idaho Supreme Court has the opportunity to consider an alleged petition for rehearing in that case. This request is denied.

(R., p. 86.) Gallegos timely appealed. (R., pp. 91-94.) The district court granted

Gallegos' Motion for Appointment of Counsel On Appeal. (R., pp. 104-105.)

Gallegos' appellate counsel moved to withdraw. <u>See</u> Oct. 28, 2014 Motion for Leave to Withdraw and Oct. 28, 2014 Motion for Leave to Withdraw. This Court granted the Motion to Withdraw. <u>See</u> Nov. 21, 2014 Order Granting Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. Gallegos proceeded pro se and filed an opening brief.

<u>ISSUE</u>

Gallegos states the issues on appeal as:

Did the district court err in summarily dismissing the successive petition post-conviction relief given that the pleadings and supporting material established a genuine issues of material facts as to whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to request an in camera proceeding with Dr. Pilling's patient inquiring into her knowledge of anything related to Petitioner's case; Petitioner's Appellate Attorney's were constitutionally ineffective in representing him in his appeal of the judgment and sentence; and, the district court abused its discretion contrary to this Court's holding in taking judicial notice of the underlying criminal records in the postconviction proceedings?

(Appellant's brief, pp. 3-4)

The state rephrases the issues as:

Has Gallegos failed to show the district court erred when it summarily dismissed his successive post-conviction petition?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Properly Dismissed The Petition As Successive

A. Introduction

Gallegos alleged he is entitled to file a successive post-conviction petition because his first post-conviction counsel was ineffective. (R., p. 6.) The district court dismissed the successive petition because ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel is not a sufficient reason to permit a successive postconviction petition. (R., pp. 83-88.) The district court was correct. The district court did not err when it dismissed Gallegos' successive petition for postconviction relief.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

"On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, this Court will determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file." <u>Workman v. State</u>, 144 Idaho 518, 523, 164 P.3d 798, 803 (2007) (citing <u>Gilpin-Grubb v. State</u>, 138 Idaho 76, 80, 57 P.3d 787, 791 (2002).)

C. <u>Gallegos Waived Any Appellate Challenge To The District Court's Order</u> <u>By Failing To Present Authority As To Why His Petition Is Not Barred As</u> <u>Successive</u>

While Gallegos acknowledges the district court's reliance on <u>Murphy</u> (Appellant's brief, p. 3) Gallegos fails to present any legal authority or argument why <u>Murphy</u> does not control. "A party waives an issue cited on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking, not just if both are lacking." <u>State v. Zichko</u>, 129 Idaho 259, 263, 923 P.2d 966, 970 (1996). Instead, Gallegos re-argues the

6

claims contained in the successive petition, and argues that he should have been appointed successive post-conviction counsel. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 4-12.) Gallegos failed to argue that <u>Murphy</u> does not apply and failed to provide legal authority to show that he is entitled to file a successive post-conviction petition. (See Appellant's brief, pp. 4-12.). Because Gallegos failed to present any argument or authority challenging the legal bases for the district court's summary dismissal of his petition, he has waived any appellate challenge to that dismissal.

D. Gallegos' Petition Was Properly Dismissed As Successive

Even if the merits of the district court's dismissal of the successive petition are considered, application of the correct legal standards shows no error. Idaho law provides that grounds "finally adjudicated or not ... raised" in an initial or amended petition for post-conviction relief generally "may not be the basis for a subsequent application." I.C. § 19-4908. Only where the petitioner can show "sufficient reason" why claims were "not asserted" or "inadequately presented in the original" case may he pursue a successive petition. <u>Id.; Griffin v. State</u>, 142 Idaho 438, 441, 128 P.3d 975, 978 (Ct. App. 2006) (citation omitted). Ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel does not constitute "sufficient reason" for filing a successive petition. Murphy, 156 Idaho at 391, 327 P.3d at 367.

It is undisputed that the Gallegos' petition is successive. (R., pp. 1-7 ("Successive Petition for Post-Conviction Relief").) Gallegos alleged that he had a sufficient reason to file a petition for post-conviction relief due to ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel. (R., p. 6.) Gallegos alleged:

7

Petitioners sufficient reason for successive petition for postconviction relief is due to ineffective assistance of post-conviction relief counsel for failing to raise all cognizable claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

(R., p. 6.) Because ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel is not a basis for avoiding application of the statutory bar on successive petitions, the district court properly dismissed the petition as successive.

Even if the merits of Gallegos' successive claims are considered, the district court did not err. Gallegos' first claimed that his original post-conviction counsel was ineffective. (R., pp. 26-30.) The district correctly ruled that an applicant for post-conviction relief does not have a constitutional or statutory right to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel. (R., p. 45 (citing Rios-Lopez v. State, 144 Idaho 340, 343, 160 P. 3d 1275, 1278 (Ct. App. 2007).) Gallegos' second claim was that his trial counsel was ineffective. (R., pp. 31-35.) In the underlying criminal case, Gallegos sought information from a psychologist, but the district court granted the psychologist's motion for a protective order. (R., pp. 44-45.) Gallegos alleged his criminal counsel was ineffective for not then asking the court to conduct an in camera interrogation of the psychologist. (Id.) In this post-conviction case, the district court ruled the type of in camera questioning suggested by Gallegos is not supported by law. (Id.) Therefore, his criminal counsel was not ineffective for failing to ask for such a procedure. (ld.) Gallegos' third claim was that his appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising the same issue on appeal. (R., pp. 36-40.) The district court correctly ruled that

¹ This claim is also likely time barred. <u>See</u> I.C. § 19-4902; <u>State v. Green</u>, 156 Idaho 722, 724, 330 P. 3d 1080, 1082 (Ct. App. 2014).

Gallegos's appellate counsel was not ineffective for refusing to bring his baseless argument on appeal. (R., pp. 44-45.) The district court did not err when it summarily dismissed Gallegos' successive petition.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's judgment.